FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 5/30/2018 4:37 PM

Supreme Court No. _____95920-0 (COA No. 75277-4-I)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

TOMAS BERHE,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

PETITION FOR REVIEW

NANCY P. COLLINS Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711 ST

В١

TABLE OF CONTENTS

A.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW 1			
B.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 1			
C.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE4			
D.	ARGUMENT 8			
	1. Racial bias among deliberating jurors must be meaningfully investigated by the trial court when a juror swears that race-based animus that affected the verdict 8			
	a. Our judicial system does not tolerate racial bias during jury deliberations			
	b. The Court of Appeals decision is contrary to Jackson, which requires at least a meaningful evidentiary hearing when a juror presents a first-hand claim of racial bias affecting the verdict			
	2. The unreliability of identifying a gun based on fired bullets requires the court to prohibit the State from misleading the jury about the value of scientific evidence			
	3. An accused person's refusal to answer questions during custodial interrogation is a presumptively prejudicial violation of the right to remain silent			
	a. When a person expressly declares he does not want to answer police questions, police questioning must cease 15			
	b. When a person refuses to answer police questions, his behavior cannot be used as evidence against him			
	4. The prosecution used improper tactics to secure a conviction			

	5. Recent case law demonstrates the court misunderstood its sentencing discretion to craft an exceptional term below		
	the standard range for firearm enhancements2	22	
E.	CONCLUSION2	25	

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Washington Supreme Court

In re Pers. Restraint of Cross, 180 Wn.2d 664, 327 P.3d 660 (2014) 15, 16				
In re Pers. Restraint of Mulholland, 161 Wn.2d 322, 166 P.3d 677 (2007)				
State v. Brown, 139 Wn.2d 20, 983 P.2d 608 (1999)23				
State v. Case, 49 Wn.2d 66, 298 P.2d 500 (1956)				
State v. Grayson, 154 Wn.2d 333, 111P.3d 1183 (2005)				
State v. Houston-Sconiers, 188 Wn.2d 1, 391 P.3d 409 (2017) 23				
State v. McFarland, 189 Wn.2d 47, 399 P.3d 1106 (2017)				
State v. Monday, 171 Wn.2d 667, 257 P.3d 551 (2011)				
State v. Piatnitsky, 180 Wn.2d 407, 325 P.3d 167 (2014)				
Washington Court of Appeals				
State v. Freeburg, 105 Wn. App. 492, 20 P.3d 984 (2001)				
State v. Fuller, 169 Wn.App. 797, 282 P.3d 126 (2012)				
State v. Jackson, 75 Wn. App. 537, 879 P.2d 307 (1994)				
State v. McDaniel, 155 Wn. App. 829, 230 P.3d 245 (2010)				
State v. Miles, 139 Wn. App. 879, 162 P.3d 1169 (2007)				

United States Supreme Court

Berghuis v. Thompkins, 560 U.S. 370,130 S.Ct. 2250, 176 L.Ed.2d 1098 (2010)
Donnelly v. DeChristoforo, 416 U.S. 637, 94 S.Ct. 1868, 40 L.Ed.2d 431 (1974)
McDonough Power Equipment, Inc. v. Greenwood, 464 U.S. 548, 104 S. Ct. 845, 78 L. Ed. 2d 663 (1983)
Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S.Ct. 1602, 16 L.Ed.2d 694 (1966)
Pena-Rodriguez v. Colorado, _ U.S, 137 S. Ct. 855, 197 L. Ed. 2d 107 (2017)
Rose v. Mitchell, 443 U.S. 545, 99 S. Ct. 2993, 61 L. Ed. 2d 739 (1979)
Tharpe v. Sellers, _ U.S, 138 S. Ct. 545, 199 L. Ed. 2d 424 (2018) 2,
United States v. Young, 470 U.S. 1, 105 S.Ct. 1038, 84 L.Ed.2d 1 (1985)
Federal Decisions
Hurd v. Terhune, 619 F.3d 1080 (9th Cir. 2010)
United States v. Ashburn, 88 F. Supp.3d 239 (E.D.N.Y. 2015)
United States v. Bess, 593 F.2d 749 (6th Cir. 2000)
United States v. Glynn, 578 F.Supp.2d 567 (S.D.N.Y. 2008)

United States v. Younger, 398 F.3d 1179 (9th Cir. 2005)		
United States Constitution		
Fifth Amendment		
Fourteenth Amendment		
Sixth Amendment		
Washington Constitution		
Article I, § 3		
Article I, § 9		
Article I, § 21		
Article I, § 22		
Statutes		
RCW 9.94A.533		
RCW 9.94A.535		
RCW 9.94A.589		
Court Rules		
RAP 13.3(a)(1)		
RAP 13.4		

Other Authorities

Com. v. Pytou Heang, 942 N.E.2d 927 (Mass. 2011)		
Gardner v. United States, 140 A.3d 1172 (D.C. 2016)	13	
National Research Council of the National Academy of Sciences, Strengthening Forensic Science in the United States: A Path Forward (2009)		
President's Council of Advisors on Science and Technology, Forensial Science in Criminal Courts: Ensuring Scientific Validity of Feature	c	
Comparison Methods (2016)		
Villie v. State, 204 So. 3d 1268 (Miss. 2016)	13	

A. <u>IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW</u>

Tomas Berhe, petitioner here and appellant below, asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review dated February 5, 2018, for which reconsideration was denied on April 30, 2018, pursuant to RAP 13.3(a)(2)(b) and RAP 13.4(b). Copies are attached as Appendix A and B, respectively.

B. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

1. Because our courts never tolerate jurors exhibiting racial bias during deliberations, a prima facie showing of such bias triggers a mandatory duty to fully inquire into the potentially tainted verdict.

After Tomas Berhe's trial, the sole black juror sitting in a murder trial involving a black defendant told the court that her guilty vote resulted from racially hostile behavior by other jurors. The court refused to let Berhe contact other jurors to investigate this claim and concluded the black juror was being overly emotional.

Procedurally, the trial court's limited inquiry into a juror's claim that racial animus tainted the verdict is contrary to the evidentiary hearing mandated by *State v. Jackson*. Substantively, the Court of Appeals' decision that a black juror's perception of racial hostility from

other jurors does not cast doubt on the integrity of the verdict conflicts with recent United States Supreme Court cases² and is contrary to the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments and the fair trial rights protected by article I, sections 3, 21, and 22. Should review be granted under RAP 13.4(b)?

- 2. Nationally, many courts are re-examining the admissibility of testimony from firearms examiners who claim that a certain gun matches a certain bullet because there are no reliable and validated studies proving the accuracy of this opinion testimony. The court rejected Berhe's request to prohibit the State's ballistics examiner from claiming she could scientifically determine a gun matched the bullets from the scene. Should this Court take review to address the court's gatekeeping role in limiting misleading scientific opinion testimony based on changes in scientific knowledge, as a matter of substantial public interest?
- 3. When an arrested person tells police he does not want to talk to them, they must stop questioning and cannot use any elicited

¹ State v. Jackson, 75 Wn. App. 537, 542-43, 879 P.2d 307 (1994).

² Pena-Rodriguez v. Colorado, _ U.S. _, 137 S. Ct. 855, 868, 197 L. Ed. 2d 107 (2017); Tharpe v. Sellers, _ U.S. _, 138 S. Ct. 545, 199 L. Ed. 2d 424 (2018).

statements against him under the Fifth Amendment and Article I, section 9. Here, the court admitted into evidence a videotape of police interrogation even though Berhe's words and conduct showed he did not want to answer their questions. Should this court grant view to address whether it is presumptively prejudicial for the court to admit an accused person's custodial statements to police where he explicitly says, "I don't want to talk to you"? Is a suspect's further refusal to cooperatively answer persistent police questions inadmissible when it indicates the suspect is invoking the right to remain silent and lacks probative value, as the Court of Appeals has held?³

- 4. The right to a fair trial includes the right to a trial free from prosecutorial misconduct. Here the prosecution employed an array of improper tactics, including shifting the burden of proof in closing argument, denigrating the defense, and commenting on Berhe's right to remain silent. Should this Court take review due to the cumulative harm resulting from improper trial tactics?
- 5. In several recent cases, this Court has recognized sentencing judges' discretion to impose exceptional sentences below the standard range that including running sentences concurrently despite statutory

³ State v. Fuller, 169 Wn. App. 797, 832, 282 P.3d 126 (2012).

language favoring consecutive prison terms. This discretion arises because the exceptional sentence statutes do not preclude the court from imposing any terms concurrently. Should this Court reexamine the court's authority to impose firearm enhancements concurrently in the context of imposing an exceptional sentence below the standard range, as a matter of substantial public importance and based on the conflict with other recent decisions?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Shortly after midnight on July 22, 2013, someone fired several shots through the closed passenger window of Mike Stukenberg's parked car, where Everett Williams sat. 2/2RP 1425-26.⁴ Williams died immediately; Stukenberg received a superficial wound to his arm. *Id.* at 1441-42; 2/17RP 2821.

Stukenberg gave many different versions who was the shooter, saying he saw three unknown perpetrators, including a white male wearing a mask; he only saw a shadow; he could not see what happened; he did not believe Berhe was the shooter; Berhe was there but he did not see him pull the trigger; Berhe was the shooter but he only said this because he was worn down by police after Berhe was

arrested. 2/2RP 1448-49, 1454; 2/3RP 1552, 1560, 1583. Stukenberg erased his phone after the shooting. 2/3 RP 1555; 2/11RP 2302-3, 2333.

People in nearby apartments heard shots, and called 911, but did not see the shooting occur. 1/27RP 731; 1/28 885, 911, 951, 976-79; 2/20RP 3063; 3/22RP 3152-53. The alley was dark and witnesses gave different descriptions of a person who could have been involved. 2/28RP 839-40 (person in white t-shirt), 979-80 (average height male in long-sleeved shirt and dark colored clothing); 2/22RP 3022-23 (6' tall white male in red coat); 2/22RP 3070 (person in light clothes). ⁵ Several neighbors saw two cars leaving the scene, a dark sedan and a green Volkswagen. 2/1RP 1165, 1196, 1216.

Williams had a large group of friends who regularly gathered to "drink and do drugs," as they had that day. 2/2RP 1313, 1368; 2/3RP 1853; 2/4RP 1759, 1811; 2/10RP 1980, 1991, 1993. Looking for a friend's party, Elijah Washington drove Berhe, Lucci Cascioppo, and Claire Villiot to a parking lot. 2/4RP 1825; 2/10RP 1999-2001. They followed Kevin Simmons, who drove Dominic Oliveri in his green Volkswagen. 2/10RP 2005, 2090.

⁴ All proceedings occurred in 2016.

Oliveri was mad at Williams, who he accused of stealing a bag of pills. 2/2RP 1345; 2/3RP 1530-31; 2/10RP 2102. Williams asked his friend Emily Schlackman if she thought Oliveri would kill him. 2/22RP 3052, 3054.

Oliveri "disappeared" shortly after the shooting. 2/2RP 1331; 2/3RP 1563; 2/4RP 1796, 1883; 2/10/RP 2095. He hired a lawyer and said he would assert his right to remain silent if called to testify; the jury was not told this was why he did not testify. 2/11RP 2379.

Cascioppo was in the parking lot during the shooting with his girlfriend Villiot. Villiot recalled nothing, and said she was "totally gone" from mixing Xanax with alcohol. 2/4RP 1766-67, 1780-81.

Cascioppo also mixed Xanax, cocaine and beer before the incident and had serious memory loss, but said Berhe shot Williams. *Id.* at 1859, 1878. Cascioppo, Villiot, and Oliveri fled afterwards and did not call for aid. 2/4RP 1815, 1856 1880. Stukenberg and Cascioppo considered Oliveri their closest or oldest friend. 2/2RP 1562-63; 2/4RP 1854.

Several miles from the shooting, police stopped Berhe in a dark sedan. 1/28RP 1096. Washington was driving. 2/1RP 1251. Under

⁵ Berhe is 5'7" tall. 2/16RP 2473. He wore a dark t-shirt and denim shorts on the night of the incident. Ex. 58, p. 10.

Washington's seat, the police found a gun. 2/4RP 1931. Forensic scientist Kathy Geil test-fired this gun, compared bullets and shell casings, and concluded this firearm fired the bullets used in the shooting. 2/17RP 2698, 2704.

Berhe was charged with first degree murder with a firearm enhancement and first degree assault with a firearm enhancement for the ricochet bullet that hit Stukenberg. CP 1-2. Washington testified for the State and received immunity. Ex. 50; 2/10RP 2075. He did not see the shooting but claimed Berhe said he shot Williams and accidentally shot Stukenberg. 2/10RP 2013, 2035. Washington admitted he lied to police multiple times and gave various stories of events. 2/10RP 2059, 2061, 2063, 2073, 2075, 2079, 2090.

Berhe objected to the State's claim the firearm in the car was the same gun that fired the fatal bullets based on evidence, citing cases criticizing the science of toolmark comparisons, but the court overruled his objection. 1/19RP 57-60; CP 37-38.

After the jury convicted Berhe of the charged offenses, one juror complained of racial harassment in the jury room. CP 474-78; 4/6RP 90, 105, 110. Citing juror privacy, the court forbid the lawyers from contacting other jurors, and instead sent all jurors a letter saying they

could contact the attorneys if they wished. 3/10RP 11; CP 292. Five jurors told the prosecution they had not acted with racial hostility. CP 322-28. The court did not inquire further. 4/26RP 110-11.

At sentencing, the judge agreed to impose a mitigated sentence of concurrent time for the first degree assault conviction because Stukenberg was shot by accident and he was suspected of playing a role in arranging this shooting. 5/26RP 172. The court believed it lacked discretion to impose the firearm enhancement concurrently and therefore imposed two consecutive firearm enhancements. *Id.* The Court of Appeals affirmed.

D. ARGUMENT

- 1. Racial bias among deliberating jurors must be meaningfully investigated by the trial court when a juror swears that race-based animus that affected the verdict.
 - a. Our judicial system does not tolerate racial bias during jury deliberations.

It is an "unmistakable principle" that "discrimination on the basis of race, 'odious in all aspects, is especially pernicious in the administration of justice." *Pena-Rodriguez v. Colorado*, _ U.S. _, 137 S. Ct. 855, 868, 197 L. Ed. 2d 107 (2017), quoting *Rose v. Mitchell*, 443 U.S. 545, 555, 99 S. Ct. 2993, 61 L. Ed. 2d 739 (1979); U.S. Const.

amends. 6, 14; Const. art. I, §§ 21, 22. In *Pena-Rodriguez*, the Supreme Court held that evidence a deliberating juror "relied on racial stereotypes or animus" to convict a person violates the jury trial guarantee of the Sixth Amendment. *Id.* at 869.

Prejudice among jurors "prevents the impartial decision-making that both the Sixth Amendment and fundamental fair play require."

United States v. Heller, 785 F.2d 1524, 1527 (11th Cir. 1986). In Heller, the judge questioned each juror during deliberations when he learned some made comments about the defendant or witnesses being Jewish.

Id. at 1526. Each juror assured the court such comments would not affect their verdict. But on appeal, the Eleventh Circuit ruled it was "inconceivable" that the jurors were untainted by discriminatory comments and ordered a new trial. Id. at 1527.

Shortly after issuing *Pena-Rodriguez*, the Supreme Court applied it to remand a case for further consideration where one juror described viewing the defendant negatively because he was black. *Tharpe*, 138 S. Ct. at 546. Although the juror disavowed this statement shortly after he made it, the Supreme Court mandated further proceedings due to the importance of ensuring verdicts are not based on racial prejudice. *Id.* at 546; *Id.* at 548, 550 (Thomas, J., dissenting).

Here, the Court of Appeals dismissed a juror's sworn statement that other jurors treated her with racial hostility because she was the sole juror who shared the same race as Mr. Berhe. It ruled that without blatant racial epithets uttered during deliberations, it would not require any further investigation into the juror's claims. This truncated analysis is unacceptable, because it permits a verdict to stand despite a juror's first hand claim of racial bias affecting the outcome of the case. Review should be granted.

b. The Court of Appeals decision is contrary to <u>Jackson</u>, which requires at least a meaningful evidentiary hearing when a juror presents a first-hand claim of racial bias affecting the verdict.

When there is prima facie evidence of bias during jury deliberations, an evidentiary hearing "is the preferred course of action." *Jackson*, 75 Wn. App. at 543-44. A juror's firsthand observations of discriminatory treatment based on her race and the race of the accused constitutes prima facie evidence of racial bias. Juror 6 submitted a sworn declaration saying she felt racial bias and race-based derision from other jurors, and her opinions were treated hostilely because she was accused of favoring Berhe because they shared the same race. CP 475-76. She said she was mistreated, "mocked," and marginalized

while other non-black jurors who also questioned the State's case were not. *Id*. She said she only voted to convict because of this undue pressure.

Here, the trial court refused to hold an evidentiary hearing. The court prohibited the defense from contacting any jurors. Instead, the court wrote a letter to the jurors and told them they could contact any of the attorneys voluntarily. Five jurors spoke to the prosecutor. CP 322-28. Each denied acting with racial animus.

This limited inquiry was inadequate. A juror's "denials of misconduct are an insufficient basis on which to reject a claim of misconduct." *Heller*, 785 F.2d at 1528. A "juror will rarely" admit his own bias, because "the juror may have an interest in concealing his own bias, and . . . the juror may be unaware of it." *Id.*, quoting in part *McDonough Power Equipment, Inc. v. Greenwood*, 464 U.S. 548, 104 S. Ct. 845, 558, 78 L. Ed. 2d 663 (1983) (Brennan, J., concurring). Appeals to racial prejudice are often not blatant. *State v. Monday*, 171 Wn.2d 667, 678, 257 P.3d 551 (2011). Subtle appeals to racial prejudice are "[p]erhaps more effective Like wolves in sheep's clothing, a careful word here and there can trigger racial bias." *Id*.

Relying only on a voluntary poll of some jurors to inquire into another juror's claims of race-based hostility is not a meaningful inquiry into a fundamentally intolerable prospect that a conviction for murder was obtained by way of at least some jurors who use race-based tactics to obtain the agreement of 12 jurors.

This Court should grant review and reverse the Court of Appeals decision, because a juror's claim that her verdict was the product of a racially hostile environment requires close scrutiny and meaningful review.

2. The unreliability of identifying a gun based on fired bullets requires the court to prohibit the State from misleading the jury about the value of scientific evidence.

A forensic analyst's opinion that the markings on a bullet scientifically establish the firearm that shot it is fundamentally flawed, because this opinion does not rest on valid principles and methods and is not foundationally valid. President's Council of Advisors on Science and Technology, Forensic Science in Criminal Courts: Ensuring Scientific Validity of Feature-Comparison Methods (2016) ("Council Report") at 4-5, 105; National Research Council of the National Academy of Sciences, Strengthening Forensic Science in the United States: A Path Forward, 154 (2009).

Opinions of certainty in ballistics matching are "not scientifically defensible." Council Report at 29. "[U]sing markings on a bullet to attribute it to a specific weapon 'to the exclusion of every other firearm in the world' [is] an assertion that is not supportable by the relevant science." *Id.* at 30.

Many courts have limited firearm identification testimony due to these recent and unimpeachable reports on the lack of validity of accuracy underlying ballistic toolmark comparisons. See Gardner v. *United States*, 140 A.3d 1172, 1183-84 (D.C. 2016) (explaining recent criticism of ballistics-match opinion evidence); Com. v. Pytou Heang, 942 N.E.2d 927, 938 (Mass. 2011) (collecting cases where courts expressed "concerns" about scientific reliability and subjective nature of forensic ballistics comparisons); United States v. Ashburn, 88 F. Supp. 3d 239, 249 (E.D.N.Y. 2015) (barring expert from claiming certainty in match of firearms and bullets and cautioning against referring to comparison as "science"); see also Willie v. State, 204 So. 3d 1268, 1288 (Miss. 2016) (Kitchens, J., concurring) (defense attorney's failure to object to firearms matching testimony was ineffective assistance because "an expert cannot reliably testify in absolute terms that a bullet was fired from a specific firearm").

In *United States v. Glynn*, 578 F.Supp.2d 567, 570 (S.D.N.Y. 2008), the court similarly ruled that recent evidence casts doubt on the scientific "rigor" of ballistics identification testimony. It concluded that it would "seriously mislead the jury as to the nature of the expertise involved," if the examiner testified he matched ammunition to a particular gun. *Id.* at 571. The court limited the expert to saying a firearms match was "more likely than not;" without claiming any degree of certainty. *Id.* at 575.

Berhe asked the court to limit the State analyst's opinion of ballistics matches between the gun found under Washington's seat and the bullets from the scene. CP 37-38. But the court refused. CP 37. The prosecution offered testimony and argued the firearm found in the car matched the bullets and casings, based on science that is generally accepted, widely used and never debunked. 2/1RP 2695, 2472; *see also* 2658, 2694, 2969, 2698, 2702, 2730; 2/24RP 3261, 3342. The court thereby allowed jurors to rely on misleading scientific evidence, undermining the reliability of the proceedings.

This Court should grant review based on the substantial public importance of limiting jurors from relying on unsound or misleading

evidence cloaked in science and giving guidance to courts based on recent studies debunking the value of ballistic comparison testimony.

- 3. An accused person's refusal to answer questions during custodial interrogation is a presumptively prejudicial violation of the right to remain silent.
 - a. When a person expressly declares he does not want to answer police questions, police questioning must cease.

When a person expresses "an objective intent to cease communication with interrogating officers," questioning must cease.

State v. Piatnitsky, 180 Wn.2d 407, 412, 325 P.3d 167 (2014); Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 479, 86 S. Ct. 1602, 16 L. Ed. 2d 694 (1966); U.S. Const. amend. 5; Const. art. I, § 9. Even if a person initially waives his right to silence, he may invoke his "right to cut off questioning" at any time. Miranda, 384 U.S. at 474.

A suspect's statement "that he did not want to talk with police," invoked the "right to cut off questioning." *Berghuis v. Thompkins*, 560 U.S. 370, 382,130 S. Ct. 2250, 176 L. Ed. 2d 1098 (2010). When a suspect says, "I don't want to talk about it," there "is nothing equivocal or ambiguous about this statement. Indeed, it is difficult to imagine a clearer refusal." *In re Pers. Restraint of Cross*, 180 Wn.2d 664, 684, 327 P.3d 660 (2014).

The Court of Appeals agreed the trial court erred by ruling

Berhe did not invoke his right to remain silent when a detective asked

him to explain what he was doing at the time of the incident and Berhe
said:

I don't even want to talk to you, dog. I don't even want to talk to you. I don't even want to talk to you or you.

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