FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/1/2018 12:54 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 95920-0 COURT OF APPEALS NO. 75277-4-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

TOMAS MUSSIE BERHE,

Appellant.

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

DENNIS J. McCURDY Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

#

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

### D. WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

RAP 13.4(b) governs when a case will be accepted for review. The rule provides that review will be accepted "only" if (1) the court of appeals' decision conflicts with either a decision of the Supreme Court or another decision of the Court of Appeals, there is a significant question of constitutional law, or the case involves an issue of substantial public interest. The issues raised herein do not meet any of these criteria.

## 1. THE DEFENDANT'S RIGHT TO REMAIN SILENT – THE COURT OF APPEALS APPLIED THE CORRECT STANDARD OF LAW

The defendant made various statements to the police on two occasions – upon his arrest after his car stopped and to detectives after he was transported to the homicide unit. On both occasions he was read his Miranda warnings and waived his right to remain silent. On appeal, the defendant did not challenge the statements he made to the responding officers (the dash cam video was played for the jury). In regards to the statements he made to the detectives, he argued to the trial court and to the Court of Appeals, that he invoked his right to remain silent at a specific point during the interrogation. The Court of Appeals ruled in the defendant's favor and the State agrees the Court's decision was correct.

As a result of the trial court's error, two statements and only two statements were heard by the jury that would not otherwise have been

admitted. See CP 153 (page 11, lines 10-24). Based on the relatively benign and limited nature of those two statements, and the fact that the statements were merely cumulative of what the jury already knew, the Court of Appeals found that the error was harmless.

In making its determination, the Court recognized that the erroneous admission of custodial statements in violation of a person's right to remain silent is an error of constitutional magnitude. State v. Berhe, 2018 WL 704724 at 7. Thus, the Court stated, in order to find the error harmless, the Court had to be "convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that any reasonable jury would have reached the same result, despite the error." Id. (quoting State v. Aumick, 126 Wn.2d 422, 430, 894 P.2d 1325 (1995)).

The defendant argues the Court of Appeals erred in a couple of ways. First, he asserts that the Court did not "presume the error harmful" and thus the Court applied the wrong legal standard. Pet. at 16. The problem with this argument is that the very test for harmless constitutional error subsumes this presumption. Thus, the "test for harmless error is whether the state has overcome the presumption of prejudice when a constitutional right of the defendant is violated when, from an examination of the record, it appears the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt." State v. Clark, 143 Wn.2d 731, 775, 24 P.3d 1006 (2001). There

can be no dispute that the Court of Appeals applied the correct harmless error standard regardless of whether or not the Court used the phrase "presumption of prejudice."

Next, the defendant asserts that the Court found the error harmless by improperly relying on other statements wherein he was exercising his right to remain silent. The defendant cites to cases holding that a suspect's denial of having committed a crime is "irrelevant" or "inherently ambiguous" and that a suspect's lack of cooperation during custodial interrogation should not be used as evidence of guilt. There are problems with the defendant's attempt to garner review based on this argument.

First, neither the State nor the Court of Appeals disagrees with the holdings of the cases cited. But the defendant did not merely deny involvement or fail to cooperate. Rather, he lied repeatedly and feigned indignation and ignorance of the reason why he was pulled over, even though the evidence clearly showed he was informed why.

When patrol officers told him why he was stopped, the defendant lied and said he was coming from Lake City (officers in fact observed him enter the freeway miles from Lake City but near the murder scene). 2/1RP 1106, 1197-202. When he was told his car was seen leaving the scene of a shooting, he swore at the officers, denied being at the scene and demanded to know who told them his car had been there. 2/1RP 1253-56. He lied

again and told the police that he did not know the name of the person who was driving his Impala, even though evidence showed the driver was his longtime friend. CP 147. In contrast to the evidence, he even claimed the Impala was not his. CP 147. He also feigned indignation and ignorance about why he was stopped, even though the evidence showed he had just fled from the scene of a murder (whether he committed the murder or not) and was told why he was stopped by patrol officers. CP 147. He told detectives that he had been cooperative with the patrol officers but they treated him "like shit," even though the dash cam video showed he had not been mistreated despite his antagonistic behavior. CP 148.

Lying to police is evidence of consciousness of guilt. State v.

Huff, 64 Wn. App. 641, 647, 826 P.2d 698, rev. denied, 119 Wn.2d 1007

(1992). Providing improbable explanations can be as well. State v.

Goodman, 42 Wn. App. 331, 711 P.2d 1057 (1985), rev. denied, 105

Wn.2d 1012 (1986). Evasive behavior may show the same. State v.

Graham, 130 Wn.2d 711, 725, 927 P.2d 227 (1996). Even nervous behavior is sometimes indicative of a consciousness of guilt. Illinois v.

Wardlow, 528 U.S. 119, 124-25, 120 S. Ct. 673, 145 L. Ed. 2d 570 (2000).

In short, while the defendant cites cases wherein a person merely denies involvement in a crime, the cases are inapplicable to the facts herein. In conjunction therewith, these are evidentiary issues and the

defendant did not raise these objections in the trial court. And besides generalities, he also fails to identify which specific statement(s) should have been suppressed or not relied on by the Court of Appeals. Where a defendant fails to raise an evidentiary objection, review is barred. State v. Guloy, 104 Wn.2d 412, 422, 705 P.2d 1185 (1985). Where a defendant makes a specific objection, review is limited to the specific ground raised at trial. Id.

The Court of Appeals' application of law does not conflict with any decision of this Court or any other court. There is no significant question of constitutional law and no issue of substantial public interest. Rather, the defendant merely disagrees with the trial court and Court of Appeals' weighing of the facts. This Court does not determine credibility or resolve disputed facts. State v. Carver, 113 Wn.2d 591, 604, 781 P.2d 1308 (1989).

# 2. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ADDRESSED THE DEFENDANT'S CLAIM OF RACIAL BIAS DURING DELIBERATIONS

Last year, the United States Supreme Court issued an opinion that provided guidance to trial courts in dealing with claims of racial bias during deliberations and that balance that must be struck with the "no impeachment rule." Pena-Rodriguez v. Colorado, \_\_ U.S. \_\_, 137 S. Ct. 855, 861, 197 L. Ed. 2d 107 (2017). The Court began by recognizing that

despite our jury system's flaws, "fair and impartial verdicts can be reached if a jury follows the court's instructions and undertakes deliberations that are honest, candid, robust, and based on common sense." <u>Id.</u>, 37 S. Ct. at 861. To protect the integrity of this system, at common law and in every jurisdiction, there exists a "no impeachment rule." <u>Id.</u> at 863. The purpose of the rule is to "give substantial protection to verdict finality and to assure jurors that once their verdict has been entered, it will not later be called into question based on the comments or conclusions they expressed during deliberations." <u>Id.</u> at 861.

Against this backdrop, the Court created an exception to the rule where there is a claim of racial bias. The Court held that "where a juror makes a clear statement that indicates he or she relied on racial stereotypes or animus to convict a criminal defendant...the no-impeachment rule [must] give way in order to permit the trial court to consider the evidence of the juror's statement and any resulting denial of the jury trial guarantee." <u>Id.</u> at 869.

In <u>Pena-Rodriguez</u>, two jurors disclosed that another juror had expressed anti-Hispanic bias. A sexual assault case, the comments included the juror stating that "I think he did it because he's Mexican and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In Washington, courts will generally not inquire into the internal process by which the jury reaches its verdict. <u>Breckenridge v. Valley Gen. Hosp.</u>, 150 Wn.2d 197, 204, 75 P.3d 944 (2003). Thus, the individual or collective thought processes leading to a verdict "inhere in the verdict" and cannot be used to impeach the verdict. <u>Id.</u>

Mexican men take whatever they want," and "nine times out of ten Mexican men were guilty of being aggressive toward women and young girls." <u>Id.</u> at 862. In holding that the trial court erred in not considering the juror's statements, the Court cautioned "[n]ot every offhand comment indicating racial bias or hostility will justify setting aside the no-impeachment bar to allow further judicial inquiry." <u>Id.</u> at 869.

"For the inquiry to proceed," the Court stated, "there must be a showing that one or more jurors made statements exhibiting overt racial bias that cast serious doubt on the fairness and impartiality of the jury's deliberations and resulting verdict." <u>Id.</u> "To qualify," the Court added, "the statement must tend to show that racial animus was a significant motivating factor in the juror's vote to convict." <u>Id.</u>

In a Washington case, <u>State v. Jackson</u>, the Court similarly held that when a claim of racial bias during deliberations is "raised postverdict, and the moving party has made a *prima facie* showing of bias, an evidentiary hearing is always the preferred course of action." 75 Wn. App. 537, 543, 879 P.2d 307 (1994), <u>rev. denied</u>, 126 Wn.2d 1003 (1995). Jackson submitted an affidavit of a juror who stated she had heard another juror talking about a reunion the juror had attended. The juror made comments such as: "[t]here are a lot more coloreds now [at home] then [sic] there ever used to be," "[t]he worst part of the reunion was that I had

to socialize with the coloreds," and "[y]ou know how those coloreds are."

Id. at 540. The Court of Appeals held that with this "clear inference of racial bias," the trial court should have conducted a full hearing. Id.

Whether a defendant meets this threshold is committed to the sound discretion of the trial court in light of all the circumstances, "including the content and timing of the alleged statements and the reliability of the proffered evidence." <u>Id.</u>; <u>Breckenridge</u>, at 203. To prevail on appeal, a defendant must show that the trial court abused its discretion, i.e., that "no reasonable judge would have reached the same conclusion." <u>State v. Hopson</u>, 113 Wn.2d 273, 284, 778 P.2d 1014 (1989). "A strong affirmative showing of misconduct is necessary in order to overcome the policy favoring stable and certain verdicts and the secret, frank and free discussion of the evidence by the jury." <u>State v. Balisok</u>, 123 Wn.2d 114, 117-18, 866 P.2d 631 (1994).

As another example, the following is from an affidavit used as evidence in an attempt by a criminal defendant to obtain a new trial:

I am of the opinion that James A. Jackson did not receive a fair deliberation on the verdict that was returned by the jury. There was little discussion of the evidence, nor did the discussions follow the framework of the Court's instructions; more specifically, reasonable doubt or presumption of innocence were not discussed. The jury, without exception, appeared to be of the opinion that the defendant was guilty.

I also heard some discussion of the Watts incident in California during which the statement was made that we did not want a similar incident to happen in our city. In my opinion, the verdict was reached as a racial determination rather than on the evidence presented, and with bias. In other similar cases in which I was a member of a jury, evidence was discussed and a verdict reached after the jurors discussed the matter. This was not so in the Jackson case.

City of Seattle v. Jackson, 70 Wn.2d 733, 737, 425 P.2d 385 (1967).

This Court was in accord with Jackson's legal premise:

We agree that the right to trial by jury includes the right to an unbiased and unprejudiced jury. A trial by a jury, one or more of whose members are biased or prejudiced, is not a constitutional trial. Nor do those matters inhere in the verdict or impeach it.

Id. at 738 (internal quotations omitted). Nonetheless, this Court rejected Jackson's claim, finding that the affidavit was filled with opinion and lacking in facts. This Court noted that only one sentence was "factual in character;" the sentence that referred to the Watts Riots. Id. at 739.

However the Court noted that defense counsel had brought up the Watts Riots in closing and the affidavit lacked facts showing racial bias simply because jurors discussed the issue.

There is absolutely no elucidation as to what specifically was said, who said it, when it was said, or in what context. The factual assertion in the affidavit is altogether too general upon which to predicate error.

<u>Id.</u> In regards to the rest of the affidavit, this Court found that it contained nothing but opinion. Absent were facts necessary for a court to determine whether a due process violation had occurred.

Of course the opinions that juror Poff expressed in the affidavit cannot be considered as raising issues to be determined by this court. Affidavits used to impeach juries *must state facts not mere opinions*.

Id. at 740 (emphasis added).

Here, the trial court found, and the Court of Appeals agreed, that the defense had not made a *prima facie* case of racial bias during deliberations despite the defense having interviewed juror 6 and crafting her affidavit. Neither courts' application of law conflicts with decisions of this Court or any other court. While a claim of racial bias during deliberations raises a constitutional issue and can be concerning, the defendant's argument is factual, not legal, and does not fit within the criteria of RAP 13.4(b) as the type of case appropriate for review.

#### E. CONCLUSION

Review of this case should be denied because the issues do not meet the criteria of RAP 13.4(b).